PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In May 2012, the University of Michigan Law School and the Center on Wrongful Convictions at Northwestern University School of Law released the most complete list of exonerations that has ever been compiled. According to their findings, in the past 23 years alone, over 2,000 people who were falsely convicted of serious crimes have been completely exonerated. Based on these figures, researchers estimate that as many as one million felony convictions *each year* have resulted in innocent persons being held responsible for crimes they did not commit. Among the most compelling findings from this study is its reminder of the significance and the power of DNA evidence. DNA testing led to exoneration in nearly one third of the 416 homicides and in nearly two-thirds of the 305 sexual assaults included in the figures.

The Florida State Legislature and this Court have reacted to similar statistics by enacting section 925.11 of the Florida Statutes ("Section 925.11") and Rule 3.853 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure ("Rule 3.853")², which allow for individuals who have been convicted of crimes – even individuals who even have entered guilty pleas – to obtain DNA testing where it can be shown likely to result

¹ See Pete Yost, "Study: 2,000 convicted then exonerated in 23 years," Associated Press, May 21, 2012, available at http://news.yahoo.com/study-2-000-convicted-then-exonerated-23-years-040242436.html (last accessed June 25, 2012).

² Rule 3.853 provides the procedural mechanism for setting seeking relief under Section 925.11.

in their exoneration or a mitigation of their sentences. See § 925.11 Fla. Stat.; Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853. In combination, these rules operate as a critical safety valve that, when used properly, not only serves justice and due process, but saves innocent Floridians from being included in the foreboding statistics described above.

William Thomas Zeigler is not a statistic. He is a human being who has served over thirty years' imprisonment for crimes he avers he did not commit, but of which he was convicted based on inferences the State asked a jury to make from bloodstain evidence that had not been tested for DNA. In 2001, Zeigler was finally permitted, through a last-ditch request for testing in support of clemency proceedings, to test the bloodstain evidence used to convict him. The results of that limited DNA testing completely contradicted the theory the State used at trial to convict. But rather than agree to a new trial, the State, at a 2004 hearing on a motion Zeigler brought for postconviction relief based on the testing results, instead invented an entirely different account of the crimes, using inferences from other stains (which the expert could not even definitively identify as bloodstains) that had never before been used to show Zeigler's alleged guilt and (as a result) had never been tested.

In the petition here, all Zeigler sought was a chance to test this evidence. The circuit court found that his petition was facially sufficient and called for an evidentiary hearing. At the hearing, a blood spatter expert affirmatively stated that

the requested testing would prove, according to the theory of the case the State advanced at trial, whether or not Zeigler was guilty of the murders for which he was convicted. Three and a half months after that hearing, the circuit court denied the request. The court made no determination as to whether any of the three prongs of Rule 3.853 were met – despite the Rule's clear language that such findings must be explicitly made. Instead, the circuit court, without citing any law, stated that Zeigler's request for testing was precluded as successive or previously litigated. That is not true. The material Zeigler seeks to test here has never before been tested. Nor has any court ruled on the merits that Zeigler is not entitled under the law to test this material. And even if Zeigler's petition was successive, which it is not, there is simply no bar to bringing a successive petition for DNA testing under Florida law. Further, it simply cannot be the case – especially in light of the strong public policy preferences in favor of testing set forth by Section 925.11 and Rule 3.853 – that justice is served when a court denies a motion to conduct DNA testing of the very same evidence the State relied on, with the aid of abject speculation, to bootstrap a new theory of guilt where that testing would prove or disprove that theory definitively.

The circuit court's order below is incorrect on the record and the law, and allowing it to stand without evaluating Zeigler's request on its merits would be

manifestly unjust. This Court should reverse the order and mandate that the petition be granted in full.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

A. Background on the Nature of the Case

Despite being quite young at the time, by December 1975, Zeigler had established himself as a prominent member of his community in Winter Garden, Florida. (R.00001; R.00028; R.00244.) As the owner a prosperous family-run furniture store, Zeigler had never been in trouble, had no criminal record, and had no propensity for violence. (R.00001; R.00028; R.00244.) He was active in his church and happily married to his wife, Eunice. (R.00001.) On December 24th of that year, however, everything dear to Zeigler was suddenly, and irrevocably, destroyed.

That night, Winter Garden Chief of Police Don Ficke received a desperate phone call from Zeigler, whom he had known for many years as a friend and had plans to see later on that evening. (R.00002; R.00233-34.) But rather than the social call Ficke may have expected, when he answered the phone Zeigler was struggling for his breath and clearly in pain. (R.00002; R.00208.) He had been shot at his store and needed help immediately. (R.00002.) Law enforcement raced to Zeigler's aid, and on their arrival encountered a horrific crime scene. (*Id.*)

Zeigler was found with a gaping bullet hole through his lower abdomen. (Id.)

He was, however, still alive. (*Id.*) Zeigler was rushed to the hospital and into surgery to repair his punctured torso. (*Id.*) The four other people the police later found within the store were not so lucky. Eunice, her parents, and a man named Charlie Mays had been shot to death. (*Id.*) Perry Edwards, Zeigler's father-in-law, had also been beaten severely, and Mays had been struck in the head. (*Id.*)

Five days later, the State, relying on blood stains at the crime scene, would accuse Zeigler of being responsible for these four deaths. (*Id.*; R.00003.) While he was still recovering in his hospital bed, he was arrested. (R.00003.) Later he would be charged with two counts of first-degree murder (for his wife and Mays) and two counts of second-degree murder (for Eunice's parents). (*Id.*) He would spend the next thirty years fighting for justice and to save himself.

B. The Trial

1. Zeigler's Testimony

On July 2, 1976, Zeigler was tried by a jury in Jacksonville, Florida convened before the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida. (R.00820.) Pleading not guilty to all counts, Zeigler maintained from the start that he was not the perpetrator of the devastating attack on his family, but was instead a victim of a brutal ambush during a robbery gone awry that was committed by Mays and at least two of his associates. (R.00002; R.00209.)

The primary dispute at Zeigler's trial was the identity of the individual or individuals who committed the murders in the furniture store that night. (*Id.*) Although he had no legal obligation to do so, Zeigler took the stand to prove his innocence affirmatively. (R.00299, *et seq.*) He recounted under oath that on Christmas Eve 1975, he and his wife Eunice had plans to attend a Christmas party, where they would meet several of their friends, including the Winter Garden Chief of Police. (R.00001; R.00233-34.) Before the festivities began, he averred, he stopped by the family-run store. (R.00001.)

Upon arriving, Zeigler went inside the store and tried to turn on the lights, but they were not working. (R.00300.) As he walked through the store, in the dark, he was hit over the head from behind – suddenly, hard, and with enough force to send his glasses flying from his face and to cause him to fall to the ground. (R.00301-02.) Reeling from the blow, and unable to see clearly with the lights out and without his glasses, Zeigler picked himself up and attempted, disoriented, to fight off his attackers – scared to death and striking his assailant as hard as he could with a heavy magnum he had managed to reach. (R.00002; R.00302; R.000304-08.) In the middle of this struggle, however, Zeigler was incapacitated; shot in his stomach. (R.00002.) He blacked out. (*Id.*)

When he came to sometime later, he crawled across the floor, dragging himself over what would turn out to be Mays' dead body, looking for his glasses.

(R.00309-10.) He ultimately would reach the store telephone and call his friend Don Ficke, the chief of police, to save him. (R.00002; R.00312-13.)

2. The State's Case

The State presented an entirely different account. (R.00002.) The prosecution argued that it was Zeigler who had killed his wife, in-laws, and Mays. (*Id.*) The sole motive the State advanced at trial was that, despite Zeigler's wealth, Zeigler masterminded the four murders and the two attempted murders in a plot to cash in on Eunice's life insurance. (*Id.*)

According to the State, Zeigler began by luring his wife and in-laws to the store. (*Id.*) The State argued that Eunice and her mother, who showed no signs of a struggle, must have been shot and killed in short succession. (*Id.*) To explain how Perry, whose body clearly had been severely beaten, had been killed, the State alleged that Zeigler must have struggled with him, holding him in a headlock and violently beating him in the head, before ultimately shooting him as well. (*Id.*) The State claimed that after Zeigler was done attacking his family he, within a very short time, was able to coax three men – Mays, Felton Thomas, and Edward Williams – to the store as part of his plot to stage a robbery and thereby pin the murders on the three men. (*Id.*)

According to the State's narrative, Zeigler first met Mays and Thomas at the store, but then drove off with them and tricked the two men into handling and

shooting guns that were later found at the scene of the crime. (R.00236-37.) To further cover his tracks, according to the State, Zeigler then lured the two men back to the store and shot and killed Mays and attempted to kill Thomas, but he was able to get away. (R.00002; R.00238-40.) The State claimed that Edwards came to the store a bit later but, after Zeigler allegedly tried to kill him as well, he, like Thomas, escaped. (R.00238-40.) The State claimed that when Zeigler was unable to silence two of his three would-be patsies, he turned the gun on himself and shot himself in his belly to make it appear that he was also a victim of the robbery purportedly concocted to frame Mays and his cohorts. (R.00002.)

Central to the State's case at trial was the identity of the person or persons who beat and killed Perry Edwards. (*Id.*) Because there was no physical evidence that could directly link Zeigler to killing either Eunice or her mother, the State relied on circumstantial evidence to support its argument that Zeigler, and Zeigler alone, beat and killed Perry. The State hung its theory of the case on the argument that, if it could be shown that Zeigler had been the person who killed Perry, the jury could also find, by inference, that Zeigler had also killed the others.

The chief contention advanced by the State to persuade the jury that it was Zeigler, and not Mays, Thomas, Williams, or someone else entirely, who killed Perry involved a bloodstain on the underarm of Zeigler's inner and outer shirts. (R.00003.) The prosecution went to great lengths to persuade the jury that the

bloodstain came from Zeigler holding Perry in a headlock and savagely beating him over the head. (R.00003; R.00328-29.) The prosecution even acted out this brutal attack in front of the jurors. (R.00330.)

The centerpiece of the State's proof on this critical point was blood evidence explained by the prosecution's blood spatter expert. (R.00329-30.) The State contended that the jury could find that the underarm bloodstains were from Perry because the stains and Perry's blood were both Type A. (R.00003.) This inference was permissible because Zeigler and his mother-in-law were both Type O, while Eunice and Perry were Type A. (Id.) But because Mays also had Type A blood, the stains also could be interpreted to show that Zeigler had, as he had testified, pulled himself across Mays' dead body to reach the phone he used to call for police assistance to save his life. (Id.) The prosecution, however, had made the unilateral decision not to test blood samples taken from the victims for subtypes, which could have helped to distinguish Charlie and Perry's blood. (Id.) The result was that Zeigler was not able to provide a scientific rebuttal to the State's interpretation of the underarm bloodstain evidence. (Id.)

³ Even the State Attorney criticized the techniques utilized to collect and test some of the bloodstain evidence. (R.00332.)

3. The Verdict and Sentencing

On July 3, 1976, the jury returned four guilty verdicts. (*Id.*) Two weeks later, a short sentencing hearing was held. (*Id.*) The prosecution did not proffer any evidence, but the defense called two witnesses and stressed residual doubt about guilt. (R.00211.) The jury deliberated for only twenty-five minutes before returning with an advisory sentence of life imprisonment on all counts. (R.00003.)

Despite the jury's unequivocal rejection of the death penalty, the judge overrode its recommendation and imposed two sentences for death (for the first-degree murder convictions) and two for life (for the second-degree murder convictions), which were affirmed. *See Zeigler v. State*, 402 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 1981).

C. Postconviction Relief and Resentencing

Zeigler subsequently pursued postconviction relief, which was denied by the trial court and affirmed by this Court. *See Zeigler v. State*, 452 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1984); *Zeigler v. State*, 473 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1985); *State v. Zeigler*, 494 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1986). (R.00052.) In 1988, however, Zeigler successfully petitioned this Court for habeas corpus relief. (R.00052.) On remand, Zeigler was resentenced and again sentenced to death. (*Id.*) This Court affirmed. *Zeigler v. State*, 580 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 1991), *cert. denied*, 502 U.S. 946 (1991). (R.00052.) Thereafter, this

Court affirmed the denial of another postconviction motion. Zeigler v. State, 632 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 830 (1994).

D. Efforts to Obtain DNA Evidence

In June 1994, Zeigler filed a postconviction motion pursuant to Rule 3.850 to vacate the death sentences imposed on resentencing. (R.00053.) In support of his request, Zeigler sought the release of certain evidence and appointment of an expert so that bloodstain evidence introduced at his trial could be re-examined using modern DNA testing procedures. (R.00053.) The circuit court found that the DNA claim was procedurally barred as untimely under Rule 3.850. (Id.) This Court affirmed in Zeigler v. State, 654 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 830 (1994), finding, inter alia, that under the version of the statute in effect at the time, the request for DNA testing should have been brought within two years of Zeigler's discovery that such testing was available to him. (R.00053.) Although the Court expressed some skepticism, based on the limited evidence available to Zeigler to present at that time, as to whether the requested DNA testing would have exonerated Zeigler, that statement was dictum because the motion was untimely.

In early 2001, Zeigler filed a motion asking the circuit court to exercise its inherent authority to approve the release of evidence in its possession, so that he could conduct DNA testing for the purpose of using the results in support of a clemency petition (the "2001 Testing Motion"). (R.00073, et seq.) On November

19, 2001, the circuit court issued a written order granting Zeigler's request. (R.00086-91.) The State received equal opportunity to test the evidence. (*Id.*)

E. The Testing Results

The testing results were released in 2002. As Zeigler argued they would, the results directly contradicted the State's theory of Zeigler's guilt, exculpated Zeigler from the murder of Perry Edwards, and rendered the prosecution's entire theory of the murders completely untenable. (R.00003.) The results showed that the bloodstain sample taken from spots on Zeigler's shirt underarm – the same bloodstain the State relied on to show that Zeigler had allegedly held Perry Edwards in a headlock and brutally beaten him, and the same bloodstain that the State argued showed by inference that Zeigler had also killed his wife and motherin-law – contained no sign of Perry Edwards' blood. (Id.) However, blood consistent with Perry Edwards' DNA profile was found in the deep, saturated blood stains found on the bottom of Mays' pants – which was consistent with Mays, not Zeigler, having stood near Edwards while Edwards was bleeding profusely from his head and discredited the State's ridiculous claim that Mays arrived more than an hour later at Zeigler's command. (R.00003; R.00362-69; R.00100; R.00407-09.) The results also supported Zeigler's testimony that stain on the underarm of his shirt, which the State argued was from savagely beating Perry Edwards, was created when he crawled over Mays' body to call the police.

Thus, the new DNA evidence cast substantial doubt as to the veracity of the State's theory that Zeigler murdered Perry and the rest of his family. Instead, the results were entirely consistent with, and indeed substantiated, the account of the attacks that Zeigler had maintained for nearly thirty years — that he, his wife, and his in-laws were the victims of an attack. (R.00002-03.) Indeed, if a jury who saw this evidence were simply to make the same inference that the State used to convict Zeigler (i.e., finding that whoever had Perry's blood on their clothes was responsible for killing Perry, Eunice, and Zeigler's mother-in-law), it would now find that Mays, and not Zeigler, had beaten Perry and killed the rest of Zeigler's family. (R.00003.)

F. The 2003 Postconviction Relief Motions

Armed with these test results and other newly discovered evidence,⁴ in 2003, Zeigler filed a motion to vacate his sentence pursuant to Rules 3.850 and 3.851 based upon the newly available DNA evidence obtained to support his clemency proceedings. (R.00053; R.00080-81; R.00396-403.) At the same time, Zeigler also filed a companion motion to authorize, *nunc pro tunc*, the previously conducted DNA testing pursuant to Rule 3.853. (R.00053; R.00080.) The State opposed the motion, arguing (as it did on the motion that led to the instant appeal) that the motion to vacate should be barred because it was successive. (R.00211.)

⁴ The additional evidence is described in the Petitioner's Reply to State's Opposition to Petition for Post Conviction DNA Testing. (R.00213.)

The circuit court agreed with Zeigler and held an evidentiary hearing. (R.00053; R.00393.) The State successfully moved to limit the evidence at the hearing "to subjects directly related to the DNA test results," which excluded all of the other post-trial evidence listed in Zeigler's motion. (R.00386-91; R.00394.)

G. The 2004 Hearing and the Order

In December 2004, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing (the "2004 Hearing"). (R.00108, et seq.; R.00334-78.) Shawn Weiss, an associate technical director of the forensic identity department for the Laboratory Corporation of America, testified concerning the tests performed on items obtained from the crime scene, including certain bloodstains on Zeigler's shirts and Charlie Mays' pants. Stuart James, a forensic scientist specializing in bloodstain pattern analysis, also testified. They collectively provided a reliable and indisputable factual predicate that Perry Edwards' blood made up a saturation stain on Mays' pants in locations that could not have deposited by accidental or incidental contact - thereby strongly suggesting that Mays participated in the killing of Perry Edwards – and that stains on Zeigler's shirt that had been argued at trial as reflecting the deposit of Perry Edwards' blood were, in fact, Mays' blood corroborating the Defense argument that the stains were caused by a fight between Zeigler and Mays. (E.g., R.00344-45; R.00348-58; R.00362-69.)

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