IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-696

WILLIAM THOMAS ZEIGLER, JR.

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

> PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Fla. Bar No. 998818 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 Ken.Nunnelley@myfloridalegal.com (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

#

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

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Zeigler is merely asking to retest items that have already been the subject of DNA testing or could have been testing in connection with the January 2003 DNA litigation. There is no showing at all that the newly-identified blood spots could not have been tested before had Zeigler merely asked. Moreover, as this Court found, Zeigler abandoned his previous request for "additional" DNA testing. He has advanced no reason for this Court to set that ruling, and its preclusive effect, aside at this late date. Finally, Zeigler is collaterally estopped from litigating the DNA testing issue for a second time since that claim has already been litigated to conclusion. There is a time for finality to litigation, even in capital cases. There is no justification for continually re-opening claims that have already been decided, and this Court should not interpret the DNA testing provisions in a manner that encourages spot-by-spot testing.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ZEIGLER'S PRIOR DNA CLAIMS

Zeigler has raised DNA-based claims, in one form or another, since 1995. A summary of those various claims is useful in evaluating the latest proceedings.

In the 1995 proceedings before this Court, Zeigler's argument in favor of allowing DNA testing was that the type A

blood on Mays' clothing might be from either Eunice Zeigler or Perry Edwards, and that "DNA testing **may rebut** the State's hypothesis that the type "A" bloodstains found on Zeigler's clothing originated from a struggle with Mays or Edwards."<sup>9</sup> Zeigler v. State, 654 So. 2d at 1163-64. (emphasis added).

In the January 2001 motion for DNA testing (which was ultimately granted), Zeigler's theory was that the blood on **Mays**' clothes could have come from Mrs. Zeigler or from Mr. Edwards,<sup>10</sup> and that testing of Zeigler's shirt "could cast doubt upon the State's suggestion that Zeigler had the blood of victims on his shirt." (SR3-4).

Finally, in the January 2003 post-conviction relief motion (which was filed **after** testing had been done), Zeigler argued that he was entitled to relief because Edwards' blood was not on his shirt (even though Mays' blood was), and because the blood found on Mays' pants probably came from Edwards. (R316). As to the first claim, it is clearly inconsistent with Zeigler's prior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Once the DNA results were available, Zeigler modified his claim to fit them. Once Mays' blood was identified on Zeigler's shirt, he re-wrote the State's theory (from his earlier version of it) to be that it was absolutely Perry's blood on Zeigler's shirt. Rule 3.853 does not allow the defendant to force-fit his "theory" into the DNA results by waiting until the test results are in before formulating that theory. Zeigler has undertaken the sort or "fishing expedition" condemned in *Lott v. State*, 931 So. 2d 807, 821 (Fla. 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The trial testimony indicated that type A blood was on Mays' pants. (R2302).

claim that the blood on his shirt came from someone **other** than Edwards **or** Mays. The claim for relief as to this component is clearly a *post hoc* argument that, while styled as a basis for relief, is actually nothing more than an attempt to explain away evidence that points toward Zeigler's guilt and is consistent with (and supportive of) what Zeigler claimed the State's theory was when he was before this Court in 1995.

As to the presence of Perry Edwards' blood on Mays' pants, the fact remains that this Court found, in 1995, that "even if the DNA results comported with the scenario most favorable to Zeigler, he still would not have been able to show that the evidence would have probably produced an acquittal." Zeigler v. State, 654 So. 2d at 1164.<sup>11</sup>

# ZEIGLER HAS ALREADY ABANDONED THE "ADDITIONAL TESTING" ONCE

In footnote 1 to its prior DNA decision, this Court said:

Zeigler also claims that the trial court (1) erroneously limited the scope of the evidentiary hearing to the DNA test results; and (2) **erroneously denied Zeigler's request to conduct further DNA** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Zeigler claimed, without elaboration, that these stains were "located in places and deposited in a manner that inculpates Mays in Edwards' murder." *Initial Brief*, at 28. (Case No. 84066). How those stains are inculpatory is the subject of yet another "theory" by Zeigler in his ongoing efforts to fit his theory to the facts. Since the location of those stains has been known since the murder in 1975, and the fact that those stains were type A blood has been known since 1976, it stands reason on its head to claim that the evidence is as important as Zeigler claims it is. That strategy seems to be one born of a desperate attempt to confuse clear evidence of guilt.

testing. However, we find that these claims are without merit. First, the claims that the trial court excluded from consideration at the evidentiary hearing are procedurally barred. See Jones v. State, 709 So. 2d 512, 522 n. 7 (Fla.1998). Second, Zeigler abandoned the DNA testing motion when he filed a notice of appeal before the trial court ruled on the testing motion. See In re Forfeiture of \$104,591 in U.S. Currency, 589 So. 2d 283, 285 (Fla. 1991).

Zeigler v. State, 967 So. 2d 125, 129 (Fla. 2007). (emphasis added). The "further DNA testing" at issue in 2007 is the same for legal purposes as the "further DNA testing" sought now. If further DNA testing can be foreclosed by abandoning the motion, and that is what this Court held, it makes no sense at all to wipe out that bar by simply filing another motion for testing. This Court could have allowed "further testing" at the time of the prior proceedings had it been inclined to ignore the procedural bar, which, if the law were as Zeigler says, this Court would have done. The fact that this Court enforced its procedural rules demonstrates that the "right" to DNA testing is not unlimited.

#### THE MOTION WAS PROPERLY DENIED

There is no question but that the newly designated blood stains could have been subjected to DNA typing in connection with the proceedings that ended with this Court's 2007 decision. Zeigler's own expert witness said just that. The only reason that testing was not done is that Zeigler did not ask for it (for reasons unknown to the State) until after the previous

post-conviction relief proceedings were concluded and the circuit court had no jurisdiction to entertain the motion.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853(b)(2) requires that the motion for testing include, inter alia:

2) a statement that the evidence was not previously tested for DNA, or a statement that the results of previous DNA testing were inconclusive **and** that subsequent scientific developments in DNA testing techniques likely would produce a definitive result establishing that the movant is not the person who committed the crime.

Zeigler cannot make either showing. There is no suggestion that there have been any "subsequent scientific developments" -- that avenue is simply unavailable. Likewise, there can be no argument that the blood spots on Zeigler's shirt that were previously tested were not the spots Zeigler specifically selected. The only reason other spots were not tested is because Zeigler did not ask (and, when he did, later abandoned that request). And, if the "evidence" referred to in Rule 3.853(b)(2) is the **shirt** itself instead of the spots on the shirt, it has clearly already been "tested for DNA" and the results litigated. As to the latein-the-day request to test specific blood spots on Zeigler's pants, he did not even seek that testing until two previous rounds of litigation concerning DNA had concluded. That, simply put, is an abuse of process since there is no reason advanced (nor can there be) for not asking for testing sooner.

In his last appearance before this Court, Zeigler's claim was that it was error for the trial court to deny his motion for "additional DNA testing" of "all of the spots on Zeigler's outer shirt." See, Answer Brief, at 36, SC05-1333. The trial court did not rule on that motion, and lost jurisdiction to do so when the notice of appeal was filed. Notably, Zeigler now wants to test specified "spots" on his "outer shirt" as well as spots on his pants.<sup>12</sup> He has already lost on his request to test the shirt some more, and could have made the same request about the pants in 2005, but did not.

This is not a circumstance in which some "new and improved" DNA test procedure has been developed, nor is it a circumstance where the "new" DNA sample (blood, in this case) was not previously known. Simply put, the same DNA test procedure has existed and been in use at all times pertinent, and the DNA samples have, at all times pertinent, been available on Zeigler's clothing from the night of the murders. Zeigler could have timely sought testing of these items in 2003 and did not. This Court refused to allow Zeigler to avoid his failure to obtain a ruling on his motion for additional testing, and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> It appears that Zeigler's theory has changed again, since he now wants to carefully select the "spots" to be tested. However, since he has already lost on his motion to test every spot on his shirt, that denial carries over into the piecemeal testing he now wants. No further testing should be allowed since Zeigler has already had his chance, and has shown no reason at all that this testing was not done before.

ruling is consistent with a requirement that DNA testing not be conducted in a piecemeal fashion. If the law were as Zeigler would have it, a defendant could literally test a bloody shirt (for example) one blood drop at a time, followed by a postconviction relief motion based on the results from the testing of each individual blood drop, which would then, in turn, necessarily be followed by appellate review of each postconviction relief motion. That result would make no sense at all, but it is exactly what Zeigler would have this Court hold.

#### COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL BARS FURTHER TESTING

Zeigler has, on two prior occasions, litigated the issue of post conviction DNA testing. While the rule does not contain an explicit prohibition on successive motions, the notion that such a prohibition is contained within the principles of collateral estoppel is suggested in *dicta* in the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeals in *Olvera v. State*, 870 So. 2d 927 (5th DCA 2004). In *Olvera*, the defendant was convicted of sexual battery and murder in 1994 based partially upon DNA testing of evidence taken from the body of the victim. In 2002 he petitioned pursuant to Rule 3.853 for additional DNA testing to support a theory (which was asserted at trial) that samples were switched. That motion was denied and affirmed.

In 2003 Olvera filed a second petition requesting DNA testing of other items related to the case espousing a different

theory of relevance. Though the Court affirmed the denial of relief on other grounds, the Fifth District did address the "procedural bar as to successive petitions" argument:

We pretermit for now the argument made by the State that a convicted person may not file more than one rule 3.853 motion for DNA testing, although we are inclined to agree with the State. Certainly, this case offers no good reason to allow successive motions. There is no argument made that the relief sought in the second motion and the arguments on which it is based could not have been asserted at the time of the first motion. Olvera's argument basically is that because successive motions are not expressly prohibited, they must be permitted. Applying the reasoning of the Florida Supreme Court in State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 2003), we think the high court would not allow successive rule 3.853 motions except pursuant to rule 3.853(d)(1)(B).

*Olvera v. State*, 870 So. 2d at 930. (emphasis added). This is the same factual scenario as Zeigler's, and there is no reason to allow successive, piecemeal, DNA testing.

In *McBride*, the issue was the ability of the Defendant to file and argue successive motions to correct sentence pursuant to Rule 3.800:

McBride entered a plea of nolo contendere to charges of attempted first-degree murder with a firearm, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and robbery with a firearm...The court sentenced him as a habitual felony offender to concurrent thirty-year terms of imprisonment on each of the three counts. *Id*. In May 1990, however, when he committed the attempted first-degree murder, which is a life felony, life felonies were not subject to sentence enhancement under the habitual offender statute.

State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d at 288. McBride had filed a Motion

to correct illegal sentence in 2000 pointing out the status of the law at the time his offense was committed. The Motion was denied and was not appealed. In 2001 he filed his second Motion to correct sentence reasserting the argument made in the first motion. The court denied the second motion as successive which was appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeals. That Court reversed the ruling of the trial court on the theory that its decision was based upon the mis-application of the doctrine of Law of the Case and remanded the matter for a full consideration of the issue. The court also certified the question to this Court, which accepted the case for review. This Court agreed with the Fifth District in its opinion that the trial court has mis-applied the doctrine of Law of the Case, and went further to find that successive Rule 3.800 motions were prohibited under the related doctrine of collateral estoppel.

"Collateral estoppel is a judicial doctrine which in general terms prevents identical parties from relitigating the same issues that have already been decided." *Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. B.J.M.*, 656 So. 2d 906, 910 (Fla. 1995). Under Florida law, collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, applies when "the identical issue has been litigated between the same parties or their privies." *Gentile v. Bauder*, 718 So. 2d 781, 783 (Fla. 1998). In addition, the particular matter must be fully litigated and determined in a contest that

results in a final decision of a court of competent jurisdiction. See B.J.M., 656 So. 2d at 910. City of Oldsmar v. So. 2d 1042, 1046 n.4 (Fla. State, 790 2001). Although collateral estoppel generally precludes relitigation of an issue in a subsequent but separate cause of action, its intent, which is to prevent parties from rearguing the same issues that have been decided between them, applies in the postconviction context. As explained above, under the principles of res judicata a defendant would be prohibited from filing any successive 3.800 motion on any issue that was or could have been raised. Collateral estoppel, on the other hand, only precludes a defendant from rearguing in a successive rule 3.800 motion the same issue argued in a prior motion.

Rule 3.853 and 3.800 are comparable in that neither contains the explict exclusion of successive motions that is found in Rule 3.850. However, the principles espoused in *McBride* apply with even greater force in the context of Rule 3.853 by virtue of the very nature of that rule. The potential for abuse (for the purpose of delay by piecemeal litigation) is obvious. While Rule 3.853 and *Florida Statute* § 925.11 were enacted for the laudable purpose of allowing defendants to establish their innocence at any time by the use of new technology, that propose is perverted when applied as a tactic to delay execution of a lawful sentence. The proper case for allowing serial DNA testing

may exist, at least as a theoretical possibility. However, speculation is neither necessary nor appropriate here -- the only reason that the "new" testing was not requested earlier is that Zeigler did not ask for it.

The question then turns to whether the issues Zeigler attempts to litigate have been "fully litigated and determined in a contest that results in a final decision of a court of competent jurisdiction". The issues in controversy as set forth in F.S. 925.11 and Rule 3.853 are: (1) Whether the sentenced Defendant has shown that the physical evidence exists; (2) Whether the results of DNA testing of that physical evidence would be admissible at trial and whether there exists reliable proof to establish that the evidence has not been materially altered and would be admissible at a future hearing; and (3) Whether there is a reasonable probability that the sentenced defendant would have been acquitted or would have received a lesser sentence if the DNA evidence had been admitted at trial.

As to the first two issues, they were fully litigated in the 2001 motion and resolved in favor of testing, which was conducted, and the results were litigated. As to the last issue (the "reasonable probability of acquittal or lesser sentence" component), that matter has now been fully litigated twice. In *Zeigler v. State*, 654 So. 2d 1162, 1164 (Fla. 1995) this Court fully addressed the issue and found unequivocally against the

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